2020 Annual
Report and
Financial
Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020

www.childhope.org.uk
Charity Registration number 328434

Company number: 2343358

Connect with us:

Report and Financial Statements | For the year ended 31 December 2020

www.childhope.org.uk

2

Registered Charity No. 328434

Report and Financial Statements | For the year ended 31 December 2020

Contents
Reference and administrative information

4

Introduction

5

Review of progress in 2020

9

2020 in numbers

16

Funded projects and programmes with partners

18

Funding review

30

Environmental review

33

Principal risks and uncertainties

35

Independent auditor’s report

42

Statement of financial activities

46

Balance sheet

47

Statement of cash flows

48

Notes to the financial statements

48

www.childhope.org.uk

3

Registered Charity No. 328434

ChildHope (UK)
Reference and Administrative Information
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Company number:

2343358

Charity number:

328434

Registered office and
operational address:

The Green House
244-254 Cambridge Heath Road
London
E2 9DA
Helen Baxendale
Jeremy Bowen
Lyse Doucet
Trevor Eve

Patrons:

Tel. 020 3559 6504

Hugh Fearnley-Whittingstall
Sandra Scott
Timothy Spall
Juliet Stevenson

Trustees, who are also directors under company law, who served during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:
Trustees:

Ms Laverne Antrobus
Mr David Harding
Ms Karen Kroger (Treasurer)
Mr Charles Middleton (Chair)

Ms Ruchira Neotia (to 14/09/2020)
Ms Jo Taylor
Ms Lizzie Towl
Ms Natalie Au (from 09/10/2020)

Key management
personnel:

Jill Healey

Bankers:

Lloyds TSB
Victoria House
Southampton Row
London
WC1B 5HR

Executive Director, Company
Secretary and Secretary to the
trustees
CAF Bank Ltd
25 Kings Hill Avenue
West Malling
Kent
ME19 4JQ

Solicitors:

Bates, Wells and Braithwaite
Cheapside House
138 Cheapside
London
WC1B
Sayer Vincent LLP
Chartered Accountants and
Statutory Auditor
Invicta House
108-114 Golden Lane
London
EC1Y 0TL

Auditor:

www.childhope.org.uk

4

Butcher Burns
Beaumont House
47 Mount Pleasant
London
WC1X 0AE

Registered Charity No. 328434

Report and Financial Statements | For the year ended 31 December 2020

Introduction
The trustees present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020. Reference and administrative information set out above form part of this report. The financial
statements comply with current statutory requirements, the Memorandum and Articles of Association
and the Statement of Recommended Practice - Accounting and Reporting by Charities: SORP applicable
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with FRS 102.
The trustees review the aims, objectives and activities of the charity each year. This report looks at what
the charity has achieved and the outcomes of its work in the reporting period. The trustees report the
success of each key activity and the benefits the charity has brought to those groups of people that it is
set up to help. The review also helps the trustees ensure the charity's aims, objectives and activities
remained focused on its stated purposes.
The trustees have referred to the guidance contained in the Charity Commission's general guidance on
public benefit when reviewing the charity's aims and objectives and in planning its future activities. In
particular, the trustees consider how planned activities will contribute to the aims and objectives that
have been set. In operation since 1989, ChildHope works with children facing extreme marginalisation in
already poor communities, children whose support and protection has been stripped away, leaving them
seriously at risk. ChildHope’s objects, as set out in the Memorandum and Articles of Association are:

“… the relief of need, hardship and distress arising there from among those persons known
as street children being children and young people who live without the proper support of
parents or other guardians and without proper and adequate shelter and the protection of
the mental and physical health of such persons all with a view to improving their conditions
of life so that they may grow to full maturity as individuals and members of the community.
The prevention or relief of poverty and social exclusion among children at risk of becoming
street children, through co-coordinated work with the children themselves, their families,
communities and other non-governmental and governmental agencies.”
ChildHope periodically reviews its strategic approach, to ensure we remain consistent with what we have
committed to. This report reviews our progress in the final year of the strategic framework 2016-2020
and summarises our new strategic framework for 2021-2025.
During 2020, we reviewed our Strategic Framework 2016-2020. This report details progress in the final
year of that strategy. The three focus areas for 2016-2020 were:
•
•
•

Protection: Gaining better understanding about why and how children are exploited, abused,
neglected and denied their rights, and how we can work together to protect and empower them.
Participation: Listening to what children themselves said about the injustices they face and how to
address them.
Promoting Learning: Enabling children to thrive through education that is relevant, safe,
empowering, and inclusive.

In developing our Strategic Framework 2021-2025, we reviewed progress in the areas above and agreed
on our focus areas for the coming five years.

www.childhope.org.uk
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Strategic Framework 2021-2025
In developing this new strategy, we reviewed our past achievements and studied the current
international aid environment. We have carefully considered where and how we are best placed to have
the highest possible impact with the resources available.

Strategic Objective 2021-2025
To make the lives of highly marginalised children safer by strengthening the local and global systems
and structures that support them.

New Focus Areas
1.

Stronger and Safer Children, Families and Communities: We want the children we work with to
be in a strong position to actively influence positive change in their lives.

2. Stronger Local Leadership: We want the expertise of locally led organisations in Africa and
Asia to be recognised and valued by those with power and resources in the international
development sector.
3. Stronger Learning and Innovation: We will establish innovative ways to support highly
marginalised children, through new partnerships and collaboration.

Access the Strategic Framework
To read our Strategic Framework 2021-2025 visit www.bit.ly/strategy-pdf

www.childhope.org.uk
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Disability Mainstreaming
ChildHope committed to becoming a more inclusive organisation as part of its 2016-2020 strategy. We
made good progress. Our office is much more accessible and our team increasingly aware of issues of
equity, equality and inclusion. With our partners, we have used the Washington Group Questions to
assess how many children and young people we work with have disabilities and build inclusion into
budgets wherever we can. We are building this approach into all our work so that, ultimately, everything
we do includes more disabled children and does it better. We are on a journey and still have some way
to go.
From 2021-2025 we will strengthen inclusive policy and practice throughout our work, document our
learning and build on it. In our new Strategic Framework, we have made a commitment to strengthen
children’s voices throughout our work and will make sure that this includes the voices of children with
disabilities.

Local Leadership
ChildHope believes that organisations established and led by people within their communities are best
placed to achieve positive change with and for marginalised children. They have an
expert understanding of the context, speak the language and understand the cultural and social norms
that impact on children’s lives. They have a long-term commitment to achieving positive change and
equality in their communities. When children see others from the same culture and community
succeeding and leading, it inspires them to aim high, too.
One of the aims of our 2016-2020 strategy, was to develop at least one major research partnership and
we are able to report two such partnerships were established during this period – one in Asia (CLARISSA)
and one in Ethiopia (YOUR World Research). We have committed to build on this success during
2021-2025 and to explore new and different partnerships for development – with academic institutions,
businesses, other NGO’s and those who would like to invest in our work.

www.childhope.org.uk
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Local Leadership and Safeguarding
During 2016-2020, with six of our long-term partner organisations, we were able to build our Child
Protection & Safeguarding Training and Consultancy.

Partners:

Pendekezo Letu and Glad’s House (Kenya)
Elimu Mwangaza (Tanzania)
Child Protection Alliance (The Gambia)
Institute for Social Reformation and Action (The Gambia)
Street Child of Sierra Leone
Voice of Children (Nepal)

A strategic development grant from Comic Relief enabled us to kick-start the consultancy in 2019 and we
are now seeking further investment.
In the meantime, ChildHope and partner organisations are delivering safeguarding consultancies. This is
enabling us to share many years’ experience of making children’s lives safer with individuals and
organisations around the world, as well as being an alternative means of income generation for our
seven organisations.
Safeguarding is now established as a vital part of all international development work and ChildHope has
fully supported our sector’s shift to raise standards, prevent and address abuse and exploitation.
Recognised as leaders in the area of child protection and safeguarding, we’ve welcomed the opportunity
to work with many agencies across the sector, large and small, including Bond and the UK Government
(FCDO).
While the expectation on agencies to make their programmes safer is intensifying, investment is lagging,
particularly in the following areas:
•
•
•

Making the improvements needed once the need has been identified.
Strengthening local organisations in low-income countries to take the lead.
Enabling marginalised children and adults to identify the main risks and the changes needed to
make their lives safer.

We aim to influence donors and mobilise investment from different sources to enable these essential
investments to take place. See further information at www.south2southnetwork.com

www.childhope.org.uk
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Review of Progress in 2020
COVID-19
No review of 2020 can omit reference to COVID-19 and the impact it has had on lives around the world.
The children that ChildHope works with were particularly vulnerable to the hardships and injustice
caused by the pandemic.
The direct impact of the disease itself upon them was less harmful than the consequent effects of empty
streets, violent implementation of lockdown rules by the authorities, and loss of daily earned income.
When factories, markets and the streets shut down or became deserted children and their families lost
their livelihoods almost entirely. Resilient and resourceful children and families found themselves
unable to get by and became increasingly reliant on the charity of others.
ChildHope worked with our partners to adjust programming to the changing needs of the people we
work with, and this year’s review aims to reflect the progress we were able to make in the most unusual
of years.

www.childhope.org.uk
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Feedback From Partners
ChildHope seeks feedback from all of our partners throughout the year in a number of ways (e.g. during
monitoring visits and as part of donor reporting processes), enabling us to reflect on and improve our
practice. We also carry out an annual partner survey, which enables us to look back on the year and
consider what impact ChildHope has had, and how this may improve in the future. We have six
dimensions related to our direct work with partners, which focus on ChildHope’s support to partners that
enables them to operate more effectively in the following areas.
Partnership Development Areas: PD1-6:
PD1
PD2
PD3
PD4
PD5
PD6

Children’s rights to participation, protection and inclusion
Management, leadership, strategy and governance
Managing resources
Securing resources
Learning
Influencing

Partnership Development
Partners were asked to consider the main ways that ChildHope has supported them during 2020, out of
our six dimensions. The three most popular areas were:
1.
2.
3.

Ability to share learning, internally and externally (PD5).
Ability to deliver programmes which promote children’s rights to participation, protection
and inclusion (PD1).
Apply to access resources necessary to sustain our work (PD4).

“We appreciate the willingness of ChildHope to share its expertise with our
staff that helped us ensure the safety of children across all projects.
Furthermore, this has helped us to become an organisation that could
share its experiences around child safeguarding to other civil society
organisations.”
Africa Partner
Partners reported that ChildHope had contributed most to their work in the following areas:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Structuring support to children and young people (PD1).
Organisational policies (PD2).
The quality of programme development and design (PD1)
Participation in partner to partner learning or South-North learning (PD5).

“I guess what we have achieved from ChildHope is engaging our staff to think
more thoughtfully on how to deliver for and with children and young people.”
Africa Partner
www.childhope.org.uk
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We asked partners what more we could do to support them (an open question). Partners recognise the
change in the funding landscape, and many expressed a wish to continue to work together and look for
resources together, as well as developing training, facilitating exchange visits, sharing knowledge, skills
and tools, documenting learning and building learning and evidence.
Specific learning areas included: sharing good practice in response to COVID-19; making grant
applications; mobilising resources locally; disability; building economic empowerment in families;
mentoring in child protection and safeguarding; strategic planning; value for money and fundraising.
Partners particularly want to work together across organisations/in consortia on programmes where
they have shared interest, which is a priority area within ChildHope’s 2021-2025 strategy. We asked
partners to summarise their partnership with ChildHope. Here are some of their comments.

“Our interaction with ChildHope during preparation of grant proposals has
opened up a room to reflect the best ways to improve and protect children
from violence and advance child participation.”
“It is a mutual and productive relationship with multiple learning.”
“Open communication, measurable results!”
“Model of real partnership from bottom to top.”
Africa and Asia Partners

Contribution to Partners’ Work With Children and Young People
One partner stressed a desire to continue a strong partnership with ChildHope, even without funded
projects, as they valued the contribution we had made to their organisational culture.

Influencing Partners’ Work With Children
ChildHope has a further six dimensions, looking at the impact of the partners’ programmes on the
children they work with. These are:
Children’s Development Areas: CD1-6
CD1
CD2
CD3
CD4
CD5
CD6

www.childhope.org.uk

Children’s participation in decision-making and inclusion.
Protection from violence and abuse.
Context (changes in laws and policy that impact on children’s lives).
Health and well-being.
Access to quality education.
Livelihoods options (increases in income and improved working conditions that lead
to change in the lives of children and young people).
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We asked partners how and where ChildHope’s support had achieved the most positive impact on their
work with children and young people over the past year. The main areas identified were:
1.
2.
3.

Levels of protection from violence and abuse experienced by children (CD2).
Changes in access to quality education (CD5).
Changes in context (CD3).

“Noting that we work with needy children, these are children who have been
neglected, rejected, prosecuted, refused and ignored. Understanding their
safety and well-being requires a lot of understanding, tolerance and
commitment. Without understanding child protection and safeguarding,
one would not be able to restore their lost trust, hope, self-esteem and
confidence, be it in education and all other aspects of life in general.”
Africa Partner
When we asked if ChildHope had done anything that had not been helpful over the past year, one partner
responded, expressing disappointment that we had not been able to provide resources to meet the
needs of children in increased need due to COVID-19.

Environment and Climate Change
We asked partners if they had an environmental policy, and an open question about what they were
doing, if anything, about environmental issues. Two partners have a policy, one with a clear focus on
areas they are addressing (bush burning and deforestation, water and urbanisation). Three partners had
no policy and offered no further detail. The majority had no policy but were engaged in some climate or

www.childhope.org.uk
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environmental activities – recycling, reductions in plastic use, no tree cutting, and running sessions with
children and young people around environmental sustainability. Overall, the response to the question
this year met with less enthusiasm than the same question in 2019, which felt more like a sense of
exhaustion around coping with the impact of COVID-19 than a lack of willingness to think about the issue.

Disability Inclusion
We asked partners if ChildHope had enabled them to be more inclusive of children with disabilities
(a priority area in our 2016-2020 strategy) and all partners responded positively. It was good to see that
partners’ confidence in this area is growing and, compared with last year, more partners are reporting
progress in applying increased awareness to their programming. A more nuanced understanding of
different impairments, physical and intellectual, as well as looking at disability in the context of
safeguarding, was apparent in a number of responses.

“Thanks to the support of ChildHope, we have been able to develop our
own inclusion strategy and provide support for children with disabilities in
our programmes”.
Africa Partner
Child Protection and Safeguarding
Child protection has been core to the work of ChildHope and our partners for many years. More recently
our work has extended to encompass a broader safeguarding agenda that includes the prevention of
exploitation and abuse of adults. ChildHope provides tailored and dedicated support to its partners in
child protection and safeguarding via the safeguarding and protection manager. This is also
accomplished by creating a network of learning and sharing of safeguarding good practice among
ChildHope’s partners.
The nature of our shared work - supporting marginalised and disadvantaged children to realise their
rights - can be very challenging and complex. This is more so in the area of protection and safeguarding.
That is why ChildHope endeavours to use the partner survey to continue to surface areas where our
partners need greater support to be able to deliver quality child protection work. A very important
component of this is ensuring that our partners’ safeguarding systems and measures are robust and help
to prevent abuse; but also, to make sure that they have the capacity to report and respond to any
safeguarding incident in the best interest of the child.

“We can only boast of child protection and safeguarding on the back of
ChildHope who, over the years, built this structure we have in place as an
organisation. Every practice we are implementing on safeguarding can be
directly accredited to ChildHope.”
Africa Partner

www.childhope.org.uk
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Support Received
Partners reported that ChildHope had supported them in the following areas: training and providing a
learning exchange platform; mentoring; support with policy development and other documents;
technical support; proposal writing, e.g., for consultancies; support with planning.

Reported Protection and Safeguarding Issues
Our partner survey shows that the highest number of cases of abuse were committed by family
members, with physical abuse being the highest. This was followed by emotional abuse perpetrated by
other associates and followed by physical abuse from other children. Although not as common,
significant numbers of children faced physical and emotional abuse by members of their communities.
There were also high numbers of children reported to have had an early marriage as well as large
numbers forced into domestic labour.
Sexual abuse – the numbers of cases of reported sexual abuse are relatively low, however this may be
as a result of under reporting rather than it not being an issue. Further education and awareness of this
issue by local partners within communities may support further incidents being reported and more
children protected. ChildHope will continue to support partners to build their capacity within this area.
There were no reports of physical or sexual abuse or neglect perpetrated by staff, volunteers or other
associates of ChildHope or partners. The findings of the survey will be further explored with our partners
to ensure that we all continue to remain alert to potential abuse in different contexts and how to
effectively handle cases that arise.

Support Requested
We asked partners what further support would be useful to them, to improve their protection and
safeguarding practice. The areas identified include: developing child feedback mechanisms; supporting
children with intellectual impairment and disabilities more generally; law enforcement; report
management. We will review these requests for support and respond to as many as possible over the
coming year. All of the requests align well with our strategic direction.

Analysis of Case Studies
We asked partners to provide examples of cases they had dealt with over the year. The case studies
mainly relate to sexual abuse or early marriage, these cases are often difficult and emotive for everyone
involved which is why they are chosen for the study. However, with partner support there were some
positive outcomes for the children and families involved. In one case in particular, a systemic approach
was used to involve the whole family unit in the discussions and decision-making process around a girl’s
disclosure of early marriage.
Not only did this intervention provide the child with the protection and support she needed but also
allowed the partner and community members to support the family to gain financial security and
stability. What is evident through the case studies received is that by implementing a community led,
local approach to protection, the support offered was proportionate and effective in its outcome. Having
a clear understanding of local culture and systems further strengthened the understanding of the family
or child’s situation, leading to positive outcomes.

www.childhope.org.uk
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This included support with early intervention of marriage, support for survivors of abuse and
implementing treatment and support programmes during the pandemic with support from local
providers. A ‘bigger picture’ approach to some of the issues mentioned highlights the growing concern
around the area of sexual exploitation, abuse and harassment which often stems from issues such as
increased poverty and early marriage. These findings from our survey will further support ChildHope’s
focus on this key area of work in the year to come.
A further positive mentioned within the case studies was how the support that ChildHope had offered
went on to create more positive relationships between the staff members and children they worked with.
As a direct result of this the children’s safety and wellbeing improved and more positive results were
seen for these children who are often hard to reach to enable support to happen.
These case studies all highlight that a multi-agency approach to working is often vital. Without having
knowledge of local systems and support structures a lot of these children and families would not have
been reached or offered the type of support they required. Continuing to build on this learning and further
supporting and educating communities and partners will continue to enable protection and safety to
become part of the everyday work within the community and even more marginalised children and
vulnerable adults will be protected from harm and abuse.

www.childhope.org.uk
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2020 In Numbers
As mentioned in the previous section, all ChildHope’s work aims to achieve positive change for children
in six dimensions, which assess improvements in:
Children’s Development Areas: CD1-6
CD1
CD2
CD3
CD4
CD5
CD6

Children’s participation in decision-making and inclusion.
Protection from violence and abuse.
Context (changes in laws and policy that impact on children’s lives).
Health and well-being.
Access to quality education.
Livelihoods options (increases in income and improved working conditions that lead
to change in the lives of children and young people).

The information in the table below shows numbers of children and adults receiving direct support from
our partner organisations through projects supported by ChildHope. While we are increasingly collecting
and disaggregating data to include information around disability, it remains insufficient to add to our
quantitative reporting tables. This capacity will increase as we build disability inclusion into new grants,
with monitoring systems to match, and ongoing use of the Washington Group of questions.
When we refer to children, we use the United Nations (UN) definition of people under 18 years of age.
However, in some contexts, when young people are in high-risk situations, we may continue to support
them up to 25 years old. The adults in the tables below are parents, teachers, community leaders and
other people over 18 years old who benefit directly from the work of our projects and contribute to the
improvements in the lives of children and young people.

www.childhope.org.uk
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Table 1: Children Reached, by Dimension
Africa
Girls

Africa
Boys

Asia Girls

5,793

3,386

6,668

CD3. Changes in context
CD4. Changes in children's
health and well-being

Dimension
CD1. Changes in children's
participation in decision
making and inclusion
CD2. Changes in levels of
protection from violence
and abuse experienced by
children

CD5. Changes in access to
quality education
CD6. Changes in livelihoods
options

Asia Boys

Total
Girls

Total
Boys

Total

1,359

1,426

7,152

4,812

11,610

4,261

362

197

7,030

4,458

11,488

0

0

144

47

144

47

191

7,278

28

455

460

7,733

488

8,221

15,048

0

1,421

1,364

16,469

1,364

17,833

217

182

136

100

353

282

635

Table 2: Children We Work With, by Continent
Africa
Asia
Total

Girls
15,960
2,991
18,951

Boys
4,261
2,885
7,146

Total
20,221
5,876
26,097

Table 3: Adults We Work With, by Dimension
It is important to note that the numbers below refer to the number of adults we work with, but the
changes refer to the impact of their participation in our programmes upon children and young people,
who are the main focus of our work. The adults in our programmes are encouraged to become more
inclusive and supportive of the children in their lives – as parents, teachers and leaders in their
communities. Everything we do with adults is focused upon improving children and young people’s lives.
Dimension
CD1. Changes in children's participation in decision
making and inclusion
CD2. Changes in levels of protection from violence and
abuse experienced by children
CD3. Changes in context

Women

Men

Total

4,963

2,160

7,123

2,330
0

2,174
0

4,504
0

CD4. Changes in health and well-being
CD5. Changes in access to quality education

61
258

0
427

61
685

CD6. Changes in livelihoods options

579

371

950

Table 4: Adults We Work With, by Continent
Africa
Asia
Total

www.childhope.org.uk

Women
5,200
3,023
8,223

Men
2,618
2,544
5,162

Total
7,818
5,567
13,385

17

Registered Charity No. 328434

Report and Financial Statements | For the year ended 31 December 2020

Funded Projects and
Programmes with Partners
How We Work With Children
- The Ecological Model
ChildHope approaches its work with children by first
putting the child in the centre, looking at the layers of
support the child needs around them. When designing
programmes, ChildHope encourages children to
recognise their own strengths and capabilities to
overcome the challenges they face.
We then look at those closest to the child – usually
starting with the family and radiating out. By addressing
multiple layers, we aim to minimise gaps in support and
ensure everybody takes responsibility for the children
they are connected to, from parents through to the
international donor community and law makers.

“My vision of my future has changed. I now have a slogan for myself: I can
be great, with great success in many aspects of my life.”
Girls’ Education Challenge girl
The report below summarises the year, drawing out impact and learning at different levels, to
demonstrate how our ecological approach works in action.

Core Focus in 2020
During 2020, the main focus of our work lay in the following three areas:
1.
2.
3.

Tackling the worst forms of child labour
Tackling modern slavery
Promoting learning

Each initiative is delivered with one or more of our established partners in Africa and Asia.

www.childhope.org.uk
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1. Tackling the Worst Forms of Child Labour
Child Labour Action Research Innovation in South and South East Asia
– CLARISSA Consortium
Funder:
Consortium Lead:
Consortium Partners:

UK Aid/FCDO
Institute for Development Studies (IDS)
ChildHope and partners Voice of Children (Nepal) and Grambangla
(Bangladesh), Terre des Hommes, Consortium for Street Children

CLARISSA is tackling child labour and modern slavery in Bangladesh, Nepal
and Myanmar, focusing on the research, development and testing of
innovative solutions to the ongoing problem of exploitation of children and
young people. The programme will run for four years, and implementation
started in 2020, in spite of the challenges of COVID-19. ChildHope and
partners Voice of Children (VoC) and Grambangla Unnyan Committee (GUC)
are playing an instrumental role in the creation and development of the
project and its implementation.
During 2020, we ran intensive induction and training workshops on-line, deepening our understanding
of working children’s lives. When COVID-19 allowed we were able to learn more about the lives of the
children themselves by listening to their stories. The children’s stories have been collected and will be
analysed with and by the children, and during 2021 the children will form groups and identify and test
ways to overcome the challenges and injustices they face in their lives and workplaces.
LEARNING POINT: When the full impact of COVID-19 and world-wide lockdowns became
apparent, CLARISSA rapidly adapted our training and induction programme to on-line platforms.
An unforeseen advantage of this was the increased interaction across the countries of people at
multiple levels, whose participation would not have been possible to the same level with face-toface sessions.

Sierra Leone – Girls’ Education and Empowerment Project
Funder:
Partner:

Highway One Trust and Evan Cornish Foundation
Future Focus Foundation

Future Focus Foundation (FFF) is a volunteer-led organisation working in rural communities across
eastern Sierra Leone. FFF promotes social justice and equal opportunities through advocacy and
livelihoods programmes. All its programmes are developed with the women and communities it works
with and the majority of its volunteers are female. They are a great example of small grants making a
significant difference, through the power of volunteering and community action.

www.childhope.org.uk
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Project Impact
Young mothers and their children: In 2020, the project supported 20 young vocational training graduates
from 2019 with kits to start up their own businesses. Twenty new trainees started vocational training but
it was cut short after two months because of COVID-19. The trainees resumed their training in November
2020, aiming to complete their courses in May 2021. In the meantime, the project showed its
adaptability, with eight of the trainees using their newly-acquired sewing skills making face masks for the
community.
Family: 120 women benefited from four new group savings and credit schemes, increasing family income
through better financial management and small business development, and benefiting 360 children and
240 other dependents. As part of the COVID-19 response, families were supported by the project with
handwashing and hygiene materials and food distribution.

LEARNING POINT: COVID-19 provided challenges but also opportunities. Future Focus Foundation
was able to increase skills in hygiene promotion, humanitarian response and adapting to sudden
change. They created new networks and partnership through joint pandemic response projects,
which they aim to maintain and grow.

Community: Future Focus Foundation continued to place a strong emphasis on strengthening
community awareness of child protection and gender-based violence, through community dialogue,
training and support from Street Child of Sierra Leone, another ChildHope partner. Girls Alert Clubs in
schools strengthened their members’ communication, advocacy and reporting skills, so they are better
prepared to identify and respond to violence.
Media: The project continued to extend its reach to over 16,000 people through local radio, to increase
child protection awareness. Themes were also adapted to incorporate issues around COVID-19.
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Bangladesh – Healthy Futures for Children of Waste-Pickers and Garment
Workers
Funder:
Partner:

Global Brands Group
Grambangla Unnyan Committee (Grambangla)

Our work in Bangladesh supports extremely marginalised children and parents, forced by poverty to
migrate and work in hazardous conditions on the Matuail Dumpsite in Dhaka, where daily life forces even
very young children to face the danger of toxic fumes, sharp and contaminated waste (bones, glass,
needles) and heavy machinery. Grambangla’s day care and education programme offers an alternative
to mothers and children; instead of being locked indoors, left on the streets, or taken to the dumpsite
with their mothers, the children are now educated and cared for in a safe, nurturing environment. When
they are old enough, they are supported to access local mainstream schools.

Project Impact
Girls and Boys: Prior to lockdown in March, 243 children benefited from day cay and primary education
through the project. Immediate loss of daily wages resulted in hunger amongst the families, so
Grambangla rapidly adjusted their approach to focus on food aid.
LEARNING POINT: Grambangla carried out a rapid community assessment to work out what the
community needed the most during lockdown. It was essential to act fast and listen to the people.
Family: The impact of COVID-19 resulted in hunger and the most basic needs – food and hygiene – for
families. Grambangla provided cooked food, basic staples and some cash, as well as face masks, gloves
and winter clothing for children.
Community: Students of the vocational training groups made 1000 face masks for the community, while
members of the Grambangla team raised awareness within the community about COVID-19 and
prevention.

Bangladesh – Access to Education and Protection for Children of Garment Industry
Workers
Funder:
Partner:

TRAID
Nagorik Uddyog

A grant from TRAID enables ChildHope and our partner, Nagorik Uddyog, to develop educational and
child rights programmes with the children of garment industry workers in Dhaka. Although the garment
industry in Bangladesh has provided opportunities for women to earn a living, it has also had a seriously
negative impact on their children. Most textile workers are single mothers, who have very low education
levels and are unskilled. Working long hours for extremely low pay and without access to childcare
facilities in their place of work, single working mothers are unable to adequately care for their children.
Often, they are forced to leave their young children (2-5 years) alone or in the care of older siblings,
exposing them to accidents, trafficking and sexual abuse. Poverty forces older children (6-16 years) to
supplement their mothers’ meagre income by entering illegal activities (notably drug trafficking) or
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informal sector jobs, depriving them of education and exposing them to extremely hazardous working
conditions, irregular pay and violence. The project aims to protect and improve the lives of 200 children
aged 2-16 years. It works closely with parents whilst raising awareness amongst textile factory
employers, community leaders and government policy makers of the need to better respect the rights
and improve the working conditions of garment workers and expand access to education and skills
training opportunities for their children.

Project Impact
Girls and Boys: For seven months of the year, 74 children aged 2-5 received quality care from trained
teachers and caregivers and enjoyed freedom to play and learn in a comfortable, safe and fun
environment at the project’s day care centres. Children had access to early childhood education,
nutritious meals and facilities where they were bathed, fed and entertained.
131 older children aged 6-16, many of whom live and work closely connected to the streets, were able to
attend drop-in centres. Participating in the centres enables children to catch up with their education,
engage in vocational training, re-enrol in mainstream schools, register for birth certificates (essential for
access to all main services) and receive basic primary health care. They are also able to participate in
peer group sessions where they discuss issues that affect them – adolescence, forced marriage, drug use
and trafficking, for example – and then participate in awareness raising with others in their community.
Family: the project supports parents to better understand their own issues and those of their children,
through group meetings. An average of 24 parents attended each of the eight meetings held during
2020.

“I am extremely happy that the centres have supported us as a friend. This
pack will help us feed for more than a month. My child will not fall sick. And
we will be able to celebrate Eid as well. Thank you so much.”
Parent
Community: The community is incredibly supportive of the centres. They can see the positive impact they
have on their most marginalised young participants. Landlords maintaining low rents for the centres has
been particularly helpful. The centres were closed for around five months due to COVID-19 lockdowns.
The disruption added pressure on the children and their parents, many of whom had no access to money
or food. TRAID enabled the project to repurpose some of their grant to provide emergency support,
mainly in the form of food parcels, to families. Most of the children have now returned to the centres,
although some stayed in the rural areas, where they had moved to at the beginning of the pandemic.
LEARNING POINT: The pandemic has demonstrated that responding and adapting quickly to
emergency situations is crucial in the lives of the poorest children and families, many of whom rely
on daily wages and have no savings. Poor health and housing, and low nutritional status to start
with, means the impact of lockdown and factory closure outweighs the threat of catching COVID19 itself.
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2. Tackling Modern Slavery
Nepal – Community-led Action Against Modern Slavery and Poverty (CLAMP)
Funder:
Partner:

UKAID/FCDO
Shakti Samuha

In Nepal, an estimated 234,600 people are victims of modern-day slavery (MDS), with poverty a root
cause. CLAMP supports the eradication of forced labour, ending modern slavery and human trafficking.
Focused in two high-risk districts, it enables the socio-economic empowerment and protection of slavery
survivors, vulnerable adolescents and women, enhancing survivors’ capacities to rebuild their future. It
aims to create better access to education, skills and economic empowerment. Advocacy, led by Youth
Change Agents (YCA), aims to unite Government and civil society to build strong protection mechanisms,
influencing power structures to bring needs-based policy change. CLAMP made great progress during
the early part of 2020 and the project was able to continue during COVID-19, with adaptations.

Project Impact
Girls and Boys: Prior to COVID-19, CLAMP had exceeded the overall project targets in enabling children
to return to school – 587 children returned to school and (prior to lockdowns) 70% were continuing to
attend. 18 were children with disabilities, with inclusion a strong project focus. The project had plans to
improve the retention rate using the community mechanisms described below. The same community
activists were harnessed to support COVID-19 efforts during 2020 and will play a significant role in
returning children to school during 2021.
Survivors: 46 trafficked children and young people were removed from danger and returned to their
communities if and when it was safe. This far exceeded the target of 15 and the increase is attributed to
a greater understanding and awareness among community members and improved co-ordination
between Shakti Samuha and the authorities. The survivors, and other young women at high risk of
trafficking, are offered opportunities to learn new skills and build businesses. These have taken longer
to develop than originally planned, and have undergone significant adaptations, and the final years of
the project will focus on improving their success and increasing household incomes.
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Family: Eliminating modern slavery involves transforming cultural norms and practices around child
marriage and trafficking, which can lead to families’ endorsement of exploitation. Community advocacy
is therefore a major part of the CLAMP project, aiming to enable parents to identify risk factors and
prevent their children from leaving home, as well as encouraging enrolment and retention in school.
Community: CLAMP has a very strong community focus, designed to maximise sustainability. The
community mechanisms adopted are: Community Based Child Protection Mechanisms; Beneficiary
Feedback Mechanisms and Youth Change Agents. The three initiatives interconnect and support one
another. For example, Youth Change Agents are well placed to identify issues of safeguarding concern,
which are taken up through the child protection mechanism. With the community feeling confident to
report on issues of concern, the programme can adapt its focus. For example, the original income
generation schemes requested by project participants (e.g. tailoring and beauty) were not proving
successful. Feedback to the project and a market study resulted in a shift to agricultural livelihoods
businesses, which are proving much more successful.

“I aim to fight against abuse and modern-day slavery in my future and raise
my voice to ensure a dignified life for survivors like me.”
CLAMP young women
Local Government: Feedback mechanisms have been used to build and strengthen the community’s
relationship with local government. As part of CLAMP’s sustainability approach, the community is
moving away from dealing with issues directly themselves, to holding government departments to
account to take responsibility. The police and other relevant local government departments are being
supported by the committees to effectively and sensitively take forward cases of protection and
safeguarding.
Media: A documentary video of the project has been produced to enable more people to learn about the
progress that is possible in tackling child trafficking.
Influencing National Policy: Shakti Samuha played a major role, in partnership with a network of
like-minded organisations, to persuade the Nepal Government to sign the Palermo Protocol, aimed at
preventing and punishing the trafficking of people.

LEARNING POINT: Strong relationships with local government, built during the first two years of the
project, will be drawn upon when trying to ensure the project gains are not lost and are built back up
once again, post-COVID. We will use learning from the 2015 earthquake to strengthen community
awareness of how major catastrophes can increase instances of child trafficking, and to work with
communities to prevent this. There will be a particular focus on school re-enrolment and
strengthening local income generation activities.
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3. Promoting Learning
Ethiopia – Girls’ Education Challenge – Excelling Against the Odds
Funder:
DFID UK Aid (now FCDO)
ChildHope Partner: The Organisation for Child Transformation and Development (CHADET)
In Ethiopia, ChildHope and CHADET have been partners for over ten years and have been delivering a
DFID/FCDO-funded Girls’ Education Challenge (GEC) project together for the past 7 years. Through GEC,
over 16,000 of Ethiopia’s most marginalised girls, those experiencing or who are at risk of early marriage,
domestic labour, migration and street-involvement, have been able to enrol, stay, thrive and succeed in
education. Phase one of GEC, which had a primary education focus, ended in March 2017 and phase two,
which supports transition to secondary and higher education, as well as vocational training, runs from
April 2017 to March 2021.

Project Impact
Girls and Boys: In the first quarter of 2020, prior to COVID-19 resulting in school closures, there were
15,048 girls in the project. A main focus of GEC is to encourage girls to enrol and stay enrolled in school,
keep them learning and help them to attend lessons, preventing issues that cause them to drop out. The
midline external evaluation report recorded attendance rates of 96.9%.
The following project interventions really help girls to attend school:
•
•
•
•

Supply of sanitary pads and hygiene materials in sanitary corners (7,756 girls).
Provision of scholastic materials (14,000+ girls) and uniforms (2,222 girls).
Transition support costs (e.g. accommodation and subsistence for 1,249 girls).
Homework clubs and family hubs.

“The provision of sanitary pads has changed my school attendance. At
previous time I used to stay home.”
GEC girl
The programme identifies the girls facing the highest barriers to schooling, including those from poor
backgrounds or girls with disabilities. It provides appropriate support including disability aids, such as
glasses, braille kits or audio kits, so disabled girls can continue their education and avoid dropping out
of school. The dropout rate of girls in the project in 2020 was 8.69%, slightly higher than the previous
year but well below the national average of 12% in primary school and 29% in secondary. One of the
reasons for the rise could be the higher number of secondary age pupils in the project. Reasons cited for
the dropouts are migration to Arab counties (375), early marriage (308), lack of basic necessities (255),
health (142), domestic labour (75) and parental influence (46).
94 Girls’ and Good Brothers’ clubs operate in 47 primary schools, and 27 Girls’ clubs in 27 secondary
schools, engaging 5,793 girls and 3,386 boys, where students can attend life skills sessions and address
issues that are important to them through discussion and the arts. Many report growing as confident
leaders with the power to transform social norms and practices in their community.
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Girls also have the opportunity to attend homework clubs, with additional learning support also offered
through reading corners and libraries, as well as higher quality teaching, highlighted below. Older girls,
choosing vocational training rather than academic study, are also supported by the project, with 406 girls
enabled to attend TVET training centres, 98 of whom were also given business training. This area got off
to a slower start than other parts of the project and will be given extra support in the final year of the
programme.

Families: Family Hubs were reinstated during Girls’ Education Challenge Transition (GEC-T) in response
to feedback from the girls. Hubs allow families and girls to discuss culturally accepted negative practices
such as child marriage and sensitive topics like menstruation and disability. Through the facilitation of
such discussions, families and other community members, including community/religious leaders,
project staff, parents, students, teachers and principals are encouraged to adopt practices that safeguard
girls’ education.

“The society wants females to learn. It has started to abandon child
marriage and let them marry whenever they want after their education.”
GEC girl
Community: The project has established close connections with the communities where schools are
based over the seven years of the project. Community conversation activities advise parents on the
benefits of education for girls and reducing the amount of household chores so their daughters can
attend school. Where possible the project supports girls with health issues or those facing economic
difficulties to re-enter school, and community workers or community volunteers meet with girls who
have dropped out because of an expressed lack of interest in continuing education, to outline the benefits
of returning to education rather than dropping out.
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These relationships have proved invaluable in maintaining contact, safeguarding, learning and
re-enrolment, in response to the COVID-19 related school closures and return to school processes during
2020.
Schools: Transition points in girls’ lives, particularly the transition from primary to secondary school, are
known to be high risk moments, when drop out is likely. Between 2019 and 2020 the project increased
the retention rate at these sensitive moments by almost 10% - from 76.25% to 85.63%. Teacher training
and the development of Communities of Practice, where teachers are able to work peer-to-peer to tackle
issues to improve their teaching, are contributing to this improvement. Areas of particular note are
gender-sensitive literacy and numeracy pedagogy training for teachers, adapted and improved
homework club sessions, stronger school leadership and a more supportive school environment, where
girls, teachers and non-teaching staff feel more comfortable.
This is also reflected in the way girls have been using safeguarding systems and reporting concerns,
feeling happier to go directly to teachers to raise an issue or report a concern rather than choosing more
anonymised processes such as the Letter Link Boxes. The girls can see that cases get dealt with and are
therefore confident to report. One area of ongoing concern and focus is the continuing use of corporal
punishment by some staff in schools, which the project will continue to address.
Government: Liaison with government education officials has been high throughout the project and is
intensifying as the project nears its end in March 2021. As well as participating in project training and
regular review meetings and conducting classroom observations to monitor teacher’s development and
girls’ learning, promoting systemic change, the government will have a significant role in the
sustainability plan post-GEC.
Media: During the early stages of COVID-19 school closures, the project received reports of alarming
rates of early marriage. Project staff participated in national television programmes raising awareness
of the issue and stressing the importance of avoiding early marriage and girls returning to education
when schools reopen. A film, highlighting the impact of the GEC project on the girls, their families and
school staff has been produced and was launched online in September 2020.

LEARNING POINT: COVID-19 brought schools to an abrupt close in March 2020. CHADET and
ChildHope rapidly responded by drawing on strong community and local government connections
to develop a plan, which included:
•

•
•

Continuity of learning through tailored work sheets developed by project teachers (it was
quickly established that not enough girls had phones, television, radio, or computers for a
technology-based approach)
Health and hygiene awareness for girls and their families
Safeguarding follow ups and material support for the poorest girls.

When schools re-opened in November 2020 a rapid re-enrolment programme was established to
get the girls back to school as soon as possible, achieving a rate of 94%. This response would not
have been possible if good relationships had not been developed at multiple levels over the years of
the project’s implementation.
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Nepal – Clean Future for Rural Children (WASH)
Funder:
Partner:

Jersey Overseas Aid
Voice of Children

As well as playing a major role as hosts in the CLARISSA programme, Voice of Children (VoC) started a
new Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) programme in 2019, aiming to make schools and
communities safer and healthier through increased awareness and improved practice. Much of the
progress in this report was achieved in the first 3-4 months of 2020, before COVID-19 hit, with VoC
adapting programming since then.
Girls and Boys: The project directly reaches 7,787 children, 94 of whom have disabilities, enabling the
children to live cleaner, healthier lives through improved facilities and greater understanding of health
and hygiene. Child peer educators are being trained, alongside teachers, to increase awareness amongst
large numbers of children. Pre and post testing of awareness levels and retained knowledge made the
team realise that regular refreshers are needed to ensure knowledge is accurate and up to date – this
will be particularly important following the break imposed by COVID-19 and resultant changes in hygiene
practices.
Schools: Following a baseline survey of 43 schools, 20 were identified as needing most improvement in
WASH facilities. It took longer than anticipated to identify skilled workers to carry out the construction in
some of the rural areas, and some had to be postponed due to COVID-19. Nevertheless, good progress
was made towards constructing accessible toilets, hand washing facilities and clean water points in the
ten schools identified for 2020. Similarly, distribution of WASH kits to schools – so the children could
put their new-found knowledge into practice – was interrupted, and plans made to start again once safe.
LEARNING POINT: Although the project has a very strong schools focus, work did not stall entirely
during COVID-19. The project’s close community connections meant that it could contribute to efforts
to support those in greatest need and increase awareness of sanitation and hygiene throughout the
communities.
Family: Parents are engaged in the project through parent teacher associations in each school, not only
to increase awareness amongst the adult population but also to ensure the continuity of WASH
awareness and good practice beyond the lifetime of the project.
Community: WASH knowledge and practice is being extended into the community through 20
community volunteers, with 19 in place during 2020. They will be supported through WASH committees,
being established to cover all localities, and with the role of sharing knowledge and monitoring local
facilities and practice. Twenty already-established local women’s groups are working with the project
and have a significant and supportive impact on sharing knowledge and increasing community
engagement in good practice. One of their roles is to look at establishing sanitary towel production,
combining access to low-cost sanitary pads with enterprise development.
Government: The women’s groups have identified the need for more support so they can enter the
market confidently, and with the appropriate skills to develop the businesses successfully. The project is
liaising with local government to support the women’s groups further on this. Overall, increasing
engagement with Government as the project develops has been crucial to implementation and their
support for the work has increased significantly through strengthened communications.
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India – Improving Mental Health Through Child Heath Sports Cooperatives – and a
New Model of Funding
Funder:

Comic Relief, via Butterflies, India

For many years, the dominant model of funding has been one of a ‘Northern Donor’ giving money to
ChildHope to work with a partner in the ‘Global South’. The Southern partners were assumed by the
donor to be very high risk and ChildHope was expected to take on this risk. Grants were given to
ChildHope to carry out work with, and transfer money to, the partner. In India, following the successful
joint ChildHope-Butterflies implementation of a Comic Relief Investment Grant, in 2018 Butterflies
applied successfully to Comic Relief for direct grant funding. This represents increased trust and direct
investment by the donor in Southern-led organisations, a shift supported by ChildHope and reflected in
our new strategy.
Having worked in partnership for many years, Butterflies wanted to maintain the relationship with
ChildHope and built in a budget line to buy-in inputs from ChildHope. We are supporting the Butterflies
team to develop planning and monitoring, evaluation and learning processes, and strengthen skills in
some of the core areas of the grant, including safeguarding and sports for development. New learning
points are emerging from this arrangement. We have faced difficulties in the process of transferring
money from India back to the UK, resulting in exchange rate losses and high tax charges.
Butterflies has promoted the value of sport for children’s health and well-being for many years and has
become increasingly aware of the impact of sport on children and young people’s mental health. They
are also a strong advocate for the building of child cooperatives – so that children are playing a lead role
in their own mental and physical health and running their own projects. This project combines two of
Butterflies’ main passions – the development of children’s health and building sports cooperatives.
Girls and Boys: Butterflies have been building on existing child health cooperatives, strengthening them
to incorporate mental health and sport, with nearly 2,500 young leaders participating. Substance use,
hygiene, nutrition, self-esteem and seeking the support of relevant health services are among the major
issues being tackled through the cooperatives. The young leaders know that it is not just a matter of
raising awareness, but of building the confidence and willingness of their peers to make healthy changes.
Family: The project is engaging parents in sports events, followed by discussion sessions on relevant
topics. Some sessions are for parents alone, and others encourage children and parents to play together.
They are also encouraged to explore new ways to address conflict within the family. The project is also
breaking down gender stereotypes, with many mothers actively participating in sports sessions
traditionally reserved for men.
Civil Society Organisations: This is a multi-partner project that aims to strengthen the understanding of
at least four other Indian implementing partner organisations in the areas of sports and mental health,
protection and safeguarding. A significant part of the programme involves sharing learning across the
five Indian states that the project is implemented.
Schools and Beyond: Programme learning is being translated into manuals, toolkits and Information,
Education and Communication materials, to be distributed in schools, primary health centres, and other
government bodies, to enable mental health messages and tested activities can be shared widely.
Government: Butterflies is looking at ways that the programme can align with the Indian government’s
Fit India Programme, which will strengthen the sustainability of initiatives developed.
www.childhope.org.uk
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Funding Review
Our total income in 2020 was £1,929,699 which includes £178,338 of unrestricted funding.

Key Sources of Income
In 2020, our main institutional donor was the Foreign, Commonwealth, and Development Office (FCDO)
who funded our Girls’ Education Challenge programme in Ethiopia; CLAMP anti-trafficking, Nepal; and
CLARISSA Asia Consortium, Nepal, Bangladesh and Myanmar. Other key institutional funders
were: Jersey Overseas Aid, who are funding our WASH project in Nepal; TRAID, who support our work
with garment industry workers and their children in Bangladesh with Nagorik; and Guernsey Overseas
Aid, funding our WASH work in Ethiopia.
1%

Institutional Funders £1,751,121

8%
Individuals, Trusts, Foundations, Corporates,
Other £165,042
Services £13,536

91%

Unrestricted Income
Built from a range of sources, unrestricted income continues to be a valuable resource for ChildHope as
it gives us flexibility to be innovative and creative, and reduces the risks associated with a dependency
on restricted grant funding. The chart below details where our unrestricted income was raised in 2020.

Digital, Community Events and Appeals £8,019

8%

3% 5%

6%

GiftAid £11,140

6%
11%

One-off and Legacies £10,345
Regular Giving £69,335
Corporates £40,000

22%

Trusts and Foundations £19,823

39%

Services £13,536
Gifts in Kind and Bank Interest £6,140
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Trusts and Foundations
Over 2020, £19,823 unrestricted income was donated by 14 UK based Trusts and Foundations from our
appeals, applications and mailings. These funders are listed below:
Souter Charitable Trust
The Fulmer Charitable Trust
The Cheruby Trust
The Ione Vassiliou Charitable Trust
The Michael and Anna Wix Charitable Trust
The Paget Charitable Trust
The Wallace Curzon Charitable Trust

Westcroft Trust
Forest Hill Charitable Trust
The Exilarchs Foundation
The Nicka Vassiliou Charitable Trust
Harapan Trust
The R N and G Maini Charitable Trust
Christadelphian Samaritan Fund

We also received support from the Evan Cornish Foundation to implement a three-month emergency
COVID-19 response project in Kenema district, Sierra Leone, delivered by our partner Future Focus
Foundation. The aim of the project was to respond to and mitigate the socio-economic impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the lives of marginalised children and their families.

Corporate Support
Capital Group have been long-term supporters of ChildHope for many years, and in April we were
delighted to receive a further generous £10,000 donation towards our general operating costs. In
October, we were pleased to be selected as recipients of a £30,000 unrestricted grant from the
Corporation of Lloyd’s, as part of their £15m COVID-19 Response Fund.

Digital, Events and Community Fundraising and Engagement
In a year that dramatically changed the way we connect and communicate with each other, we have been
testing new ideas and approaches to engaging with our supporters and audiences. In 2020, we partnered
with three universities - the University of Westminster, Queen Mary University of London, and the Athens
University of Economics and Business - to collaborate with students on projects to improve our
communications and online engagement.
We are working with university students to engage young adults in our work and the issues we are
addressing and to help us improve and learn better practices. Each group of students has taken on
different projects working on fundraising, digital marketing, online advertising, corporate partnerships,
and youth engagement. Their findings and recommendations will be acted upon from 2021.
Outdoor challenge events came to halt last year. In a pre-lockdown burst of energy, our treasurer Karen
Kroger, who is running the London Marathon for ChildHope at the deferred date in October 2021,
managed to raise her full target over January and February 2020. Karen continued to train whenever
possible throughout 2020 and is excited to be competing later this year.
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Direct Charitable Activity Expenditure
ChildHope’s charitable activities expenditure totalled £1,951,273 in 2020. It is broken down into the
themes of work as detailed below and these themes correlate with how the narrative report and
accounts have been organised.

£1,238,735

£434,273

£188,238
£79,387

Promoting
Learning

Tackling the Worst Tackling Modern
Forms of Child
Slavery
Labour

£3,195

£2,947

£4,498

Protecting the
Rights of Street
Connected
Children

Building Capacity
and Resilience

Safeguarding
Training and
Consultancy

Fundraising

Ethics and Fundraising
ChildHope is a member of the Fundraising Regulator and remains committed to high standards in our
fundraising activities. We follow the Fundraising Regulator’s Code of Fundraising Practice and ensure all
staff, trustees, fundraisers, and volunteers comply with the key principles embodied in the Code, as well
as ensuring we are compliant with GDPR requirements. ChildHope ensures that vulnerable people, and
all our supporters, are protected from unwanted or stressful intrusion on their privacy.
Our direct marketing programme is limited – we do not contact people by phone to ask them to increase
their payments or carry out face-to-face fundraising, and we publish four to six mailings per year. All staff
and volunteers also adhere to the Institute of Fundraising’s policy on vulnerable people. We used no
third parties for fundraising purposes in 2020.
Trustees are kept up to date with fundraising activities and trustees are members of the Fundraising
Sub-Committee, who feed back to the main Board meetings each quarter. The committee actively
participates in fundraising activities and aims to meet at least four times a year.
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Environmental Review
In 2019, ChildHope conducted a review of our environmental policy and made a commitment to include
an update of progress against the core components of the policy in our Annual Report and Financial
Statements. We had planned to produce a set of benchmarks during 2020, against which we would
assess change each year. However, this has been postponed due to the significant changes in practice
influenced by COVID-19. During 2021 we will assess these changes and how they will influence
ChildHope’s practice and our short, medium and long-term environmental impact. In the meantime, a
summary of 2020 is given below.

UK Base
ChildHope continues to rent office space in a building run by Ethical Property, constructed with a
commitment to reduce negative environmental impact, including building materials and design,
maximising use of natural light and ventilation; close to bus, tube and train links and with ample cycle
racks and showers, to facilitate alternatives to car transport. The Green House actively promotes the
recycling of food waste, plastic, paper/card, batteries and printer cartridges, as well as regular
‘amnesties’ for larger items. Ethical Property is audited annually on three areas – financial, social and
environmental impact. See www.ethicalproperty.co.uk.
During 2020 ChildHope moved into an office one third smaller, within the same building. Almost all staff
worked from home from March onwards. UK travel was significantly reduced, although the energy saved
by the journeys to work may have been balanced by extra fuel used in individual homes. We will not
return to the larger office and full-time office use is unlikely to resume when travel and office working
restrictions end.
Use of paper and printing reduced significantly with almost all team members working from home
without personal printers. Hard copy documents were mostly restricted to essential fundraising mailings
that could not be shared electronically. We anticipate that this change will be sustained, and we will not
see a significant rise in printing and paper use when we return to the office in 2021.

International Programming
ChildHope’s partnership approach is one that is committed to strengthening local organisations so that
they can operate effectively and independently, reducing dependency and input from Northern actors.
This is a medium to long-term approach that will ultimately significantly reduce the volume of
North-South travel. During 2020 international flights reduced to almost zero. We were able to find ways
to sustain support to partners on-line, and many of these practices will be sustained in the future,
although some flights will resume as face-to-face contact cannot be totally replaced by screens.
Our South2South Safeguarding Network continues to promote the recruitment of safeguarding
consultants from within the countries or regions that the consultancy is sought, reducing flights and
therefore carbon emissions. As part of the FCDO-funded CLARISSA programme, ChildHope has
promoted the leadership of a local organisation as host organisation and lead in Nepal. Again,
promoting a localisation agenda in this way reduces unnecessary North-South travel and carbon
footprint and increases power to Southern agencies.
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In 2019, we added a question to our annual partner survey, designed to prompt consideration of
environmental impact within our partners and to enable ChildHope and partners to gain a better
understanding of what we are doing to promote positive action. We observed that the 2020 responses,
the second time we have asked the question, reflected less enthusiasm to grasp environmental and
climate change issues than they had the previous year. We feel that this is a sign of ‘COVID exhaustion’
and the need to simply keep going with the basics rather than a lack of interest in the issues.

Future Plans
During 2021 ChildHope will review what partners tell us about their own environmental impact and
programming and consider how we can increase our activity in this area. We will review the learning
from the changes that COVID-19 brought about and consider how we can maintain positive changes. We
will agree a realistic number of measurable targets against which we can measure progress with regards
to our environmental impact as we go forward and will report on progress in our next annual report.
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Principal Risks and
Uncertainties
During 2020, the board of trustees and senior management team maintained close analysis of the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. This covered the health and welfare of staff, project delivery,
implementation of the strategy and general operations, putting in place mechanisms to mitigate
negative impacts wherever possible.
These include cash flow scenario planning, more regular review of income and expenditure, regular
action planning and maintaining close contact with donors. We were able to complete the year
with income and expenditure close to the planned budget and with healthy reserves. However, as
with many other charities, ChildHope experienced a reduction in unrestricted funding of around
26% and we have observed an increasingly limited institutional funding environment.
Looking forward to 2021, a year where a major grant will be ending, we have therefore made the
decision to invest in recruitment of a senior member of staff to focus on income generation,
particularly to look at alternative sources of institutional/programmes funding. We will use
unrestricted reserves to cover this investment, ensuring that we remain within our reserves policy.

Over the past four years, the national and international political environment has had an impact on
charities, and this significantly accelerated during 2020. While COVID-19 resulted in much public
generosity, a focus on home-based charities was apparent both through individual donations and the
approaches of trusts and foundations. Many of the latter shifted a focus to either UK organisations or
supporting those with whom they already had a relationship, so new opportunities were difficult to find.
The most significant impact for ChildHope, however, has been the merger of the Department for
International Development (DFID) and the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) into the newly
formed FCDO (Foreign and Commonwealth Development Office), combined with reductions in the
budget that the new department has available for international development funding. The department
has announced a temporary spending reduction on aid from 0.7% to 0.5% of GNI. GNI itself has reduced
due to the impact of COVID-19 on the UK economy. As a result, ChildHope is facing possible cuts in
existing grants and fewer opportunities to source new government money. We consider these changes
to be the main risks and uncertainties we currently face as an organisation.
Other risks to ChildHope, as with other organisations undertaking similar work, concern child protection
or safeguarding abuses, and financial irregularity (fraud and mismanagement), by partners or ChildHope
itself. ChildHope’s approach to protection and safeguarding, how we mitigate risk and strengthen
ChildHope and our partners’ policies, systems and day-to-day activity, is detailed in a number of places
throughout this report. DFID (now FCDO)’s funding of our largest grant, resulted in a particular challenge
due to its ‘payment in arrears’ approach. Detail of how we managed this, through a staggered payment
arrangement combined with ring-fencing of sufficient reserves until the final payment is made in June
2021, is given in the reserves policy below.
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To mitigate and manage risk, ChildHope has a detailed risk register, which is reviewed every three
months by the Senior Management Team, every six months by the Audit and Resources Committee and
every twelve months by the Board, and whenever significant new risks are identified. In order to maintain
a close watching brief on risk in partner organisations, ChildHope has developed a tool to systematically
assess risk more closely at the appropriate level (our ‘Heat Map’). Taking six key areas (including Child
Protection, Governance, and Finance) and using a traffic light system, the Partnerships and Programmes
Managers flag concerns and highlight good practice on a quarterly basis in team meetings.
Significant concerns are raised with and discussed with the Senior Management Team and at either the
Audit and Resources Committee or Partnerships and Programmes Sub-Committee (depending on the
issue raised) and ‘red flags’ are discussed in full Board meetings.The Heat Map system was developed
partly in response to ‘whistleblowing’ events and analysis of whether it was possible to better anticipate
and address issues that may lead to allegations (founded or unfounded) before they lead to serious harm
for the children and adults we work with, the partner organisation or ChildHope.
There is agreement among trustees and staff that the tool enables rich discussion and pertinent advice
to be shared and, while it may not put a stop to the need for whistleblowing, it will reduce ‘shocks’ and
is enabling preventive measures to be taken. We had no whistleblowing events during 2020.

Reserves Policy and Going Concern
The trustees’ reserves policy ensures that ChildHope, at a minimum, maintains sufficient general fund
reserves to be able to continue in ‘normal’ existence for three months followed by an orderly curtailment
of activities over the following three months if necessary. The policy is reviewed annually. The trustees
aim to hold, therefore, between three and six-months’ expenditure as unrestricted funds to reflect this.
The level of reserves required in the general fund is reviewed with the budget every six months. As at 31
December 2020 the desired reserve level within the general fund was £200,000 assuming a run down
over a six-month period. The trustees have also agreed that, for the year 2021, a designated fund of
£250,000 will be maintained in order to allow ChildHope to meet the costs of the Girls’ Education
Challenge project, which comes to an end at the end of March. The final arrears payment won’t arrive
until June 2021, which affects ChildHope’s cash flow most significantly between March and June 2021.
At 31 December 2020, general reserves stood at £202,617 (excluding the designated reserves of
£250,000) or £452,617 including the designated reserves. The trustees are satisfied that this is within the
reserves policy and will provide us with sufficient resources to address the challenges described in the
section above. Following cash flow analysis and scenario planning, the trustees also consider our
current reserves policy to be sufficient to cushion the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on ChildHope
over the coming year and consider ChildHope to be a going concern.

Plans For The Future
During 2020, ChildHope reviewed our 2016-2020 strategic framework, progress against which is detailed
throughout this report. During 2020 we developed a new strategic framework, as detailed earlier in this
report. Our priorities are: to increase the participation of children and young people in the development
agenda; to accelerate the transfer of power to locally-led organisations in low income countries; to work
in partnership and collaboration with other organisations, in new and creative ways, to achieve our goals.
We are currently developing implementation plans to enable us to take forward our 2021-2025 strategic
priorities.
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Structure, Governance and Management
The organisation is a charitable company limited by guarantee, incorporated on 3rd February 1989 (as
EliteRealm) amended to ChildHope UK (29th June 1989) and registered as a charity on 20th December
1989. The company was established under a memorandum of association, which established the objects
and powers of the charitable company and is governed under its articles of association. ChildHope
operates under the guidance of a Board of Trustees. All trustees give their time voluntarily and receive
no benefits from the charity. No expenses were claimed by trustees to attend Board meetings and
sub-committees during 2020 (£0 in 2019). Charlie Middleton continued in the role of Chair of Trustees
throughout 2020.

Appointment, Induction and Training of Trustees
Vacancies are advertised on a range of platforms when gaps have been identified. In addition,
nominations may be made by staff, other trustees (including the Chair), other NGOs, or may be selfreferring. The potential trustee receives an information pack and applies. If they meet the criteria for new
trustees, they visit ChildHope and meet the ED and the Chair of Trustees, or other trustees and team
members as appropriate. If confirmed as suitable, then the Chair or one trustee proposes the applicant
for election at a meeting of the Board of Trustees, giving fourteen days’ notice to all trustees. If elected,
the person is entered as a member of the Company on the Register. The ED and Chair ensure that each
new trustee is trained in child protection and safeguarding and given an induction into the activities of
the charity. Appropriate training in governance, child protection and safeguarding and finance is offered
to trustees regularly. They review their performance and register of interests annually.
Matters of strategy, policy, programme and budgetary planning and monitoring reports are presented
for deliberation and either approval or modification by the Board of Trustees on a regular basis. The
respective roles of trustees and the staff are outlined in ChildHope’s governance documents including
the “Ensuring Good Governance in the work of ChildHope” and a range of policies defining powers, roles
and conduct (copies of these are available from ChildHope on request through info@childhope.org.uk).
As well as induction and regular child protection and safeguarding training, we also support trustees to
learn more in the areas of budgeting/finance, governance and programmes/strategy during Board
meetings and the annual Away Day.

Selection of Chair
When the position of Chair becomes vacant, existing trustees may express an interest in the role and, if
they do, the Board may decide to make an appointment from within the existing Board membership. If
no-one comes forward from within the Board, other individuals may be identified, recommended and/or
the post is advertised externally. A job description is drawn up to supplement the trustee Code of
Conduct. Interested parties meet the Executive Director (ED) who explains the work of ChildHope and
the duties and responsibilities of the Chair. A panel, chaired by the head of a trustee selection committee,
then interviews candidates, with the ED sitting as an observer.

Ensuring a Good Balance of Board Membership
The trustees, who constitute directors of the charity for Companies Act purposes, at April 2021, are
Laverne Antrobus, Karen Kroger, Charlie Middleton, David Harding, Jo Taylor and Natalie Au. Lizzie Towl
left the Board in March 2021. There are three sub-committees - the Audit and Resources Committee
(which has decision-making powers), the Partnerships and Programmes Sub-Committee and the
Fundraising and Communications Sub-Committee.
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Each trustee is encouraged to become a member of one sub-committee, and we aim to have at least two
trustees, with appropriate experience and expertise, on each sub-committee to ensure a balance of
support and governance across the organisation. Other members of the sub-committees are relevant
ChildHope team members.
Attendance of trustees at formal meetings during 2020 is given in the table below. Trustees also played
a significant role in other areas in 2020: Learning Week sessions; revision of our Good Governance
Guidance; development of our new Strategic Framework, for which we established a time-limited group
made up of trustees and staff members.

Trustee
David Harding
Charlie Middleton
Laverne Antrobus
Karen Kroger
Natalie Au
Lizzie Towl
Jo Taylor
Ruchira Neotia

Board meetings
(5 including away day)
5
5
5
5
1 (joined October 2020)
5
4
3 (out of possible 4, left
September 2020)

Sub-Committee meetings
3 (out of possible 3)
3 (out of possible 3)
3 (out of possible 3)
3 (out of possible 3)
1 (joined October 2020)
3 (out of possible 3)
3 (out of possible 3)
2 (left September 2020)

Management of ChildHope
A team of fourteen (full-time and part-time) manage ChildHope’s resources, office and partnerships,
including the Executive Director. The ED is Company Secretary and Secretary to the trustees. The trustees
oversee the pay policy, setting the salary of the ED and agreeing on the annual staff pay increase. This is
informed by regular benchmarking and evaluation (with external HR input to enhance objectivity).
Job Descriptions are reviewed annually with staff as part of the appraisal process and we set salaries to
reflect the knowledge, experience, skills and responsibilities expected of staff in their roles. We try and
maintain a balance between offering remuneration that reflects the market and demands of the job with
expectations of our supporters and donors, who seek value for money and expect a high percentage of
our income reaching the children and young people we support.
We know that the staff we recruit are attracted to work for us because of the quality of the work we do
and integrity as an organisation. We also aim to offer a supportive work environment, which is flexible
and responsive to the needs of our diverse team. The identity and experience of our staff is diverse: 57%
female and 43% male; 43% Black or Asian and 57% White. In 2020 staff and volunteers had origins in
Britain, India, Colombia, Jamaica, Uganda, Nigeria, New Zealand, Australia and Eritrea. Between us we
speak Amharic, Bengali, English, Hausa, Yoruba, Hindi, Luganda, German, Spanish and Swahili.
In 2020 assistance was received from three volunteers, bringing highly valued skills and commitment to
the team and contributing to our fundraising, programmes and safeguarding teams. In 2020 a total
number of 556 hours were worked by volunteers and interns. Based on the London Living Wage, the
financial value of our volunteers in 2020 was an estimated £6,033. This was lower than usual due to the
challenges posed by COVID-19 to effectively recruit and support volunteers, given that our volunteers
usually come to the role new to international development and needing one-to-one time and direction.
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ChildHope covers volunteers’ reasonable expenses and includes them in the team as we do paid staff
members. As well as gaining from their input, ChildHope aims to give volunteers and interns
opportunities that will enhance their skills and expertise, contributing to their future plans and careers,
and many go on to gain paid employment within the international development sector having worked
with ChildHope.

Transparency and Due Diligence
ChildHope aims to be as transparent as possible in the work we do. During 2020 we continued to be part
of the pilot programme for the DFID/FCDO Supply Partner Code of Conduct (the Code) for Accountable
Grant Arrangements (AGAs). The activity of the FCDO department managing this piece of work was
limited during 2020 due to the merger but we anticipate it will continue during 2021 and remain part of
the programme.

Related Parties and Relationships with Other Organisations
ChildHope delivers work in partnership with independent organisations in Africa and Asia. Partnerships
are developed, in most cases, over several years during which necessary due diligence, partnership
development and organisational development plans are drawn up, carried out and regularly reviewed.
ChildHope and partners assess progress together and identify and address gaps identified through our
thorough due diligence processes.
All funded arrangements between ChildHope and partners are accompanied by a detailed partnership
agreement, aligned to the requirements of the relevant donor(s). All partners have independent Boards
and other governance and management structures and are not subsidiaries of ChildHope.

Inclusion and Disability
ChildHope takes all reasonable steps to ensure full and fair considerations to employ, train and promote
employees on the basis of their experience, abilities and qualifications. We take care to ensure that the
‘protected characteristics’: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity, race (including colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins), religion or
belief, sex or sexual orientation; do not negatively influence decisions made around employment.
It is ChildHope’s policy to recruit the best person for the job. ChildHope will make reasonable
adjustments to work provisions, criteria and practices or to work premises in order to ensure that a
disabled person is not placed at a substantial disadvantage in comparison with persons who are not
disabled.
Our landlords have applied high standards of accessibility and facilities for disabled people in the
refurbishment and development of the building. If it is necessary to assess whether personal
circumstances will affect the performance of the job (for example, if the job involves extensive travel),
this will be discussed objectively, listening to the applicant themselves rather than making assumptions.

Employee Information
All ChildHope staff are kept informed on matters of concern to them through a range of methods,
collective and individual, including staff meetings, team meetings and one-to-one supervision meetings.
Decision-making within the organisation is carried out on several levels, including whole-organisation
consultation, Senior Management Team and Board meetings.
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Opportunities are given to consult with staff and allow staff to voice their views and considerations
regarding decisions to be made which affect them. Strategic change is explored and agreed taking into
consideration the views of staff through a collective review process. ChildHope has a transparent
financial system allowing staff to view the financial performance of the organisation regularly. Long-term
challenges and opportunities that affect the organisation are discussed openly and the team is aware of
ChildHope’s overall financial health and prospects.
During the COVID-19 ‘lockdown’ periods during 2020 and 2021 we regularly reviewed with staff any
changes needed to ensure team cohesion and continuity, of relationships, work plans and strategic
development. In the early stages of the pandemic, regular informal meetings were requested. After
some time, these became less necessary and more regular, formal, work-focused meetings were agreed
upon. Throughout the period, it has been important to maintain regular, quality connection with team
members to reduce feelings of isolation and maintain direction.

Statement of Responsibilities of The Trustees
The trustees (who are also directors of ChildHope (UK) for the purposes of company law) are responsible
for preparing the trustees’ annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of the incoming resources and
application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that
period.
In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:
•
•
•
•

•

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.
Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP.
Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and statements of recommended
practice have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements.
Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the charity will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
As far as the trustees are aware:
•
•

There is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditors are
unaware.
The trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.
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The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Members of the charity guarantee to contribute an amount not exceeding £1 to the assets of the charity
in the event of winding up. The total number of such guarantees at 31 December 2020 was 7 (2019:7).
The trustees are members of the charity, but this entitles them only to voting rights. The trustees have
no beneficial interest in the charity.

Auditor
Sayer Vincent LLP were re-appointed as the charitable company's auditor during the year and have
expressed their willingness to continue in that capacity.
The trustees’ annual report has been approved by the trustees on 30th April 2021 and signed on their
behalf by:

Charlie Middleton
Chair
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Independent Auditor’s
Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of ChildHope (the ‘charitable company’) for the year ended 31
December 2020 which comprise the statement of financial activities, balance sheet, statement of cash
flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

•
•

Give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 December
2020 and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and
expenditure for the year then ended.
Have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice.
Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees' use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have
performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on ChildHope's ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for
issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other Information
The other information comprises the information included in the trustees’ annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other
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information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by The Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•
•

The information given in the trustees’ annual report, for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
The trustees’ annual report, has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on Which We Are Required to Report by Exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the trustees’ annual report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or
The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
Certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or The
directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small
companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the
trustees’ annual report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the statement of trustees’ responsibilities set out in the trustees’ annual report,
the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error. In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate
the charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for The Audit of The Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud are set out below.

Capability of the Audit in Detecting Irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and
non-compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures included the following:
•

•
•

•
•
•
•

We enquired of management and the audit and resource committee, which included
obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation, concerning the charity’s policies and
procedures relating to:
o Identifying, evaluating, and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were
aware of any instances of non-compliance;
o Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected, or alleged fraud;
o The internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance
with laws and regulations.
We inspected the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the charity
operates in, focusing on those laws and regulations that had a material effect on the financial
statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the charity from our
professional and sector experience.
We communicated applicable laws and regulations throughout the audit team and remained
alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.
We reviewed the financial statement disclosures and tested these to supporting
documentation to assess compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
We performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that
may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud.
In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments, assessed whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias and tested significant
transactions that are unusual or those outside the normal course of business.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities,
including those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with
regulation.
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This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than
error, as fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of Our Report
This report is made solely to the charitable company's members as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the charitable company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable company's members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jonathan Orchard (Senior statutory auditor)
30th April 2021
for and on behalf of Sayer Vincent LLP, Statutory Auditor
Invicta House, 108-114 Golden Lane, LONDON, EC1Y 0TL
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Statement of Financial Activities
(Incorporating and Income and Expenditure Account & Statement of Total Realised Gains and
Losses)

ChildHope UK

Company no. 2343358

Unrestric ted
Funds
Note
2020
£

Restric ted
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2020
£

Unrestricted
Funds
2019
£

Restricted
Funds
2019
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

1 5 8 ,6 6 2

1 ,7 4 7 ,1 3 9

1 ,9 0 5 ,8 0 1

192,771

1,935,404

2,128,175

1 3 ,5 3 6
165
5 ,9 7 5

4 ,2 2 2
-

1 7 ,7 5 8
165
5 ,9 7 5

39,611
308
14,147

219,956
-

259,567
308
14,147

1 7 8 ,3 3 8

1 ,7 5 1 ,3 6 1

1 ,9 2 9 ,6 9 9

246,837

2,155,360

2,402,197

3

7 9 ,3 8 7

-

7 9 ,3 8 7

90,326

-

90,326

3
3
3
3
3
3

7 5 ,7 7 6
195
1 7 ,5 3 3
2 6 ,5 6 5
180
276

1 ,1 6 2 ,9 5 9
3 ,0 0 0
1 7 0 ,7 0 5
4 0 7 ,7 0 8
2 ,7 6 7
4 ,2 2 2

1 ,2 3 8 ,7 3 5
3 ,1 9 5
1 8 8 ,2 3 8
4 3 4 ,2 7 3
2 ,9 4 7
4 ,4 9 8

77,912
5,303
20,567
7,988
264
39,862

1,426,761
97,116
260,404
146,288
4,835
219,956

1,504,673
102,419
280,971
154,276
5,099
259,818

1 2 0 ,5 2 5

1 ,7 5 1 ,3 6 1

1 ,8 7 1 ,8 8 6

151,896

2,155,360

2,307,256

TO TAL EX P ENDITURE

1 9 9 ,9 1 2

1 ,7 5 1 ,3 6 1

1 ,9 5 1 ,2 7 3

242,222

2,155,360

2,397,582

NET MO VEMENT IN FUNDS

(2 1 ,5 7 4 )

-

(2 1 ,5 7 4 )

4,615

-

4,615

474,191

-

474,191

469,576

-

469,576

Nil

£ 4 5 2 ,6 1 7

Nil

£ 474,191

INCO ME FRO M
Donations and legacies
Charitable activities
South2South Safeguarding Training and Consultancy
Investment income: bank interest
Other income

2

TO TAL INCO ME
EX P ENDITURE O N
Raising funds
Charitable activities
Promoting Learning
Protecting the rights of street connected children
Tackling Modern Slavery
Tackling the worst forms of child labour
Building capacity and resilience
Safeguarding Training and Consultancy

RECO NCILIATIO N O F FUNDS
TOTAL FUNDS AT 1 JANUARY 2020
TO TAL FUNDS AT 3 1 DECEMBER 2 0 2 0

13 £

4 5 2 ,6 1 7

£

£

474,191

£

All income and expenditure has arisen from continuing activities. The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2020
ChildHope UK

Company no. 2343358
Notes
£

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS: amounts falling due
within one year

8

9

10

2020
£

£

354

707

75,312
590,051

81,878
564,503

665,363

646,381

(213,100)

(172,897)

Net current assets
NET ASSETS
FUNDS
Unrestricted funds:
Designated funds
General fund

2019
£

452,263

473,484

£ 452,617

£ 474,191

250,000
202,617

250,000
224,191

£ 452,617

£ 474,191

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by
Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS
102) (effective 1 January 2019) - (Charities SORP FRS 102), the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.
They were approved, and authorised for issue, by the Board of Trustees on ………………………… and
signed on their behalf by:CHARLIE MIDDLETON, Chair
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020
ChildHope UK

Company no. 2343358

2020
Note
Cash flows from operating activities

16

£

2019
£
25,548

£

£
67,425

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets

-

Cash flows from financing activities

-

-

25,548

66,367

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

564,503

498,136

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end

590,051

564,503

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019)
- (Charities SORP FRS 102), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
(FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.
Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in
the relevant accounting policy or note.

b) Public benefit entity

The charitable company meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

c) Going concern

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about the charitable company's ability to
continue as a going concern. Key judgements that the charitable company has made which have a significant
effect on the accounts includes estimating future income, expenditure, and cashflows. In coming to this
conclusion, the trustees have fully assessed the risks to the at the time of approval in relation to the COVID19 crisis. The trustees believe that, on the basis of their current assessment, any risks to income and cash flow
can be managed sufficiently to support the going concern basis.
The trustees do not consider that there are any sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next reporting period.

d) Income

Income is recognised when the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to
the income have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and that the amount can be
measured reliably. Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ grants or ‘revenue’ grants,
is recognised when the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the
grants have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured
reliably and is not deferred.
For legacies, entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware that probate
has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by the executor(s) to the
charity that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received from the estate. Receipt of a legacy,
in whole or in part, is only considered probable when the amount can be measured reliably, and the charity
has been notified of the executor’s intention to make a distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the
charity, or the charity is aware of the granting of probate, and the criteria for income recognition have not
been met, then the legacy is a treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material. Income received in
advance of the provision of a specified service is deferred until the criteria for income recognition are met.
Project income received in advance of the project's funded period is deferred, where the funded period falls
after the reporting period, or where there is a reasonable prospect that the project budget will need to be
revised and the funded period will fall after the reporting period as a result.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e) Donations of gifts, services and facilities

Donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised as income when the charity has control
over the item or received the service, any conditions associated with the donation have been met, the receipt
of economic benefit from the use by the charity of the item is probable and that economic benefit can be
measured reliably. In accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102), volunteer time is not recognised so refer
to the trustees’ annual report for more information about their contribution.
On receipt, donated gifts, professional services and donated facilities are recognised on the basis of the value
of the gift to the charity which is the amount the charity would have been willing to pay to obtain services or
facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market; a corresponding amount is then recognised in
expenditure in the period of receipt.

f) Interest receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by
the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank.

g)Fund accounting

Restricted funds are to be used for specific purposes as laid down by the donor. Expenditure which meets
these criteria is charged to the fund.
Unrestricted funds are donations and other incoming resources received or generated for the charitable
purposes.
Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked by the trustees for particular purposes.

h)Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party,
it is probable that settlement will be required, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

□

Expenditure is classified under the following activity headings:
Costs of raising funds relate to the costs incurred by the charitable company in inducing third parties to make
voluntary contributions to it, as well as the cost of any activities with a fundraising purpose
Expenditure on charitable activities includes the costs incurred to further the purposes of the charity and their
associated support costs. Other expenditure represents those items not falling into any other heading.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for which the expenditure was incurred.

i) Allocation of support costs

Resources expended are allocated to the particular activity where the cost relates directly to that activity.
However, the cost of overall direction and administration of each activity, comprising some salary and
overhead costs of the central function, is apportioned in proportion to direct costs.

j) Operating leases

Rental charges are charged on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
k) Tangible fixed assets

Items of equipment are capitalised where the purchase price exceeds £100. Assets that are purchased out of
restricted funds are not capitalised, except where the donor allows for the asset to be depreciated over the
life of the asset. Depreciation costs are allocated to activities on the basis of the use of the related assets in
those activities. Assets are reviewed for not impairment if circumstances indicate their carrying value may
exceed their net realisable value and value in use.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write down the cost of each asset to its estimated residual
value over its expected useful life. The depreciation rates in use are as follows:
Computer and office equipment

3-5 years

l) Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

m) Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity
of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

n)Creditors and provisions

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past
event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the
obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their
settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.
The charity only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments.
Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their
settlement value.

o) Pensions

The charity has auto enrolled all staff into the Government's Workplace Pension Scheme NEST. The
Pensions Regulator's requirements are that the employer has a duty to meet the minimum requirements in
that total contributions of 3 per cent of an employees' pensionable pay are paid into their employees' pension
funds. ChildHope matches employee contributions of up to 5% of pensionable salary subject to the
employee also paying 5%. The charitable company has no liability under the scheme other than for the
payment of those contributions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
2. Gifts, Grants, and Donations
Gifts, grants, and donations include a large number of gifts from institutional donors, individuals, and corporates. The
charity is particularly grateful to the Department for International Development (now FCDO) (funding a number of
projects, including the Girls Education Challenge project), and Comic Relief (funding our work with partners in Africa,
Asia, and Latin America).
Donations and legacies
Unrestricted
Funds
2020
£

Restricted
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

98,839
59,823
-

240
1,746,899

99,079
59,823
1,746,899

136,478
56,533
1,935,164

158,662

£ 1,747,139

1,905,801

£ 2,128,175

Unrestricted
Funds
2019
£

Restricted
Funds
2019
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

136,238
56,533
-

240
1,935,164

136,478
56,533
1,935,164

192,771

£ 1,935,404

Individual giving, events, and other fundraising
Trust, Foundations, and Corporates
Institutional donors
£

£

Donations and legacies - 2019

Individual giving, events, and other fundraising
Trust, Foundations, and Corporates
Institutional donors
£

£

2,128,175

Individual giving includes non-recurring legacy income of £250 (2019 - £39,569).

Special disclosure of amounts received in the year
Donations and legacies above are stated on an accruals basis. However the following funding sources require
that income from these sources is also stated on a receipts basis as follows:

Donor

Project / Grant

DfID
DfID
UK Aid Connect
Comic Relief

GECT
CLAMP
CLARISSA
Street Connected Children in Nairobi - Bridging funds
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Total
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

999,459
177,652
300,902
-

1,311,927
260,983
66,469
50,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Analysis of expenditure by charitable activity
2020

Direct costs
£

Governance
& Support
costs
£

Total
2020
£

Total
2019
£

Fundraising costs
Charitable activities
Promoting Learning
Protecting the rights of street connected children
Tackling Modern Slavery
Tackling the worst forms of child labour
Building capacity and resilience
Safeguarding Training and Consultancy

74,531

4,856

79,387

90,326

1,162,959
3,000
176,723
407,708
2,767
4,223

75,776
195
11,515
26,565
180
275

1,238,735
3,195
188,238
434,273
2,947
4,498

1,504,673
102,419
280,971
154,276
5,099
259,818

Total expenditure

1,831,911

119,362

1,951,273

2,397,582

Direct costs
£
85,649

Governance
& Support
costs
£
4,677

Total
2020
£
90,326

1,426,761
97,116
266,422
146,288
4,835
246,365

77,912
5,303
14,549
7,988
264
13,453

1,504,673
102,419
280,971
154,276
5,099
259,818

2,273,436

124,146

2,397,582

2019

Fundraising costs
Charitable activities
Promoting Learning
Protecting the rights of street connected children
Tack ling Modern Slavery
Tack ling the worst forms of child labour
Building capacity and resilience
Safeguarding Training and Consultancy
Total expenditure

Governance & Support costs
Total
2020
£
Staff support costs
Programmes overheads
Facilities and services
Office administration and finance
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Total
2019
£

81,888
4,495
12,560
20,420

59,090
17,608
25,626
21,823

119,363

124,147
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Notes to the Financial Statements
4. Net income / expenditure for the year
This is stated after charging / crediting:

Depreciation
Gain / (loss) on disposal of fixed assets
Auditor’s remuneration
Operating lease rentals: property
Foreign exchange gains / (losses)

2020
£

2019
£

353
9,900
34,714
-

382
9,000
44,120
-

5. Staff costs and numbers

Salary costs
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

Unrestricted
Funds
2020
£

Restricted
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2020
£

Unrestricted
Funds
2019
£

Restricted
Funds
2019
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

107,938
11,209
14,901

326,478
28,346
4,320

434,416
39,555
19,221

114,495
16,305
14,626

350,359
27,291
4,320

464,854
43,596
18,946

£ 134,048

£ 359,144

£ 493,192

381,970 £

527,396

£

145,426

£

The average number of employees (head count based on number of staff employed) during the year was 14 (2019:
22). The full time equivalent number of staff was as follows:

Raising funds
Charitable activities
Administration

2020
No.

2019
No.

1.8
7.8
4.0

3.2
6.6
3.2

13.6

13.0

The trustees consider that the members of the SMT, who are the CEO, the HR Manager, the Head of Finance, and the
Senior Programmes Manager are the key management personnel of the charity (in 2019 this also included a Business
Development Director). The total employee benefits, including pension and national insurance contributions, for
these key management personnel were £158,337 (2019 - £205,939 (restated to remove employer NI)).
During the year, one employee earned between £60,000 - £70,000 (2019 - the same).

www.childhope.org.uk

54

Registered Charity No. 328434

Report and Financial Statements | For the year ended 31 December 2020
ChildHope UK | Company no. 2343358

Notes to the Financial Statements
6. Related party transactions
No trustees were reimbursed for out of pocket expenses during the year (2019: the same).
There are no donations from related parties which are outside the normal course of business and no restricted
donations from related parties.
7. Taxation
The charitable company is exempt from corporation tax as all its income is charitable and is applied for
charitable purposes.
8. Tangible fixed assets
Computers
£

Office
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost
At 01 January 2020
Additions

22,790
-

3,917
-

26,707
-

At 31 December 2020

22,790

3,917

26,707

Depreciation
At 01 January 2020
Charge for the year

22,084
353

3,916
-

26,000
353

At 31 December 2020

22,437

3,916

26,353

Net book value
At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2020

£
£

706
353

£
£

1 £
1 £

707
354

9. Debtors
Due within one year
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
£
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2020
£

2019
£

8,921
66,391

38,428
43,450

75,312

£

81,878
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Notes to the Financial Statements
10.

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Accruals
Project deferred income
Payroll taxes payable
Pensions payable

2020
£

2019
£

17,640
181,138
11,368
2,954

9,000
152,637
11,260
-

£ 213,100
Deferred income
Balance at 01 January
Amount released to incoming resources
Amount deferred in the year

£

152,637
(152,637)
181,138

Balance at 31 December

£ 181,138

172,897
175,738
(175,738)
152,637

£

152,637

11. Pension scheme
The charity has auto enrolled all staff into the Government's defined contributions Workplace Pension Scheme,
NEST. The charity has a duty to meet the minimum employer contributions into the scheme as required in law and
to deduct the minimum required contributions from qualifying salaries, and to pay both into the scheme.
Employees may opt to contribute more than their required minimum. In this case, ChildHope matches employee
contributions up to 5% of pensionable salary subject to the employee also contributes at least 5%.
12.Analysis of net assets between funds
General
Funds
£
Tangible fixed assets
Net current assets

www.childhope.org.uk

Designated
Funds
£

354
202,263

250,000

£ 202,617

£ 250,000

56

Restricted
Funds
£

£

Total
Funds
£

-

354
452,263

Nil

£ 452,617
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13.Analysis of the net movement in funds
Unrestricted
Funds
2020
£
Net movement in funds
Net expenditure on additions for the year

Restricted
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2020
£

Total
Funds
2019
£

-

(21,574)
(353)

4,615
-

£ (21,927) £

4,615

(21,574)
(353)
£ (21,927) £

Nil

14.Operating lease commitments
The charity's total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows for
each of the following periods:
Property
2020
£
Less than one year
One to five years

15.

Equipment (photocopier)
2020
2019
£
£

2019
£

18,514
-

19,095
-

624
1,896

624
3,792

18,514

19,095

2,520

4,416

Other company information

ChildHope UK is a charitable company limited by guarantee, registered in England with registration number
2343358. Its registered office address is The Green House, 244-254 Cambridge Heath Road, London, England, E2
9DA. The accounts are presented in GBP rounded to £1.
16.

Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities
2020
£

Net income / (expenditure) for the reporting period
(as per the statement of financial activities)
Depreciation charges
Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets
Interest from long term deposits
Bank fees on long term deposits
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
£
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2019
£

(21,574)

4,615

353
6,566
40,203

382
2,569
59,859

25,548

£

67,425
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17. Movement in funds
2020

Note

Partner & At the start
Country of the year
£

Income
£

Expended
£

At the end
of the year
£

-

2,767

2,767

-

-

1,041,305

1,041,305

-

-

87,900

87,900

-

-

19,942

19,942

-

-

13,812

13,812

-

-

3,000

3,000

-

-

170,705

170,705

-

-

1,339,431

1,339,431

-

Restricted funds
Building capacity and resilience
- Asia regional
(a)
programmes
Promoting Learning
- Girls Education
Challenge (GECT)
- Water, Sanitation and
Hygiene (WASH)
- WASH improvements
in schools in Ethiopia
(WISE)
- Butterflies Mental
Health Project
- Covid Emergency
Response

(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)

Various, Asia

CHADET,
Ethiopia
Voice of
Children,
Nepal
CHADET,
Ethiopia
Butterflies,
India
Future Focus
Foundation,
Sierra Leone

Tackling Modern Slavery
- CLAMP
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Shakti
Samuha,
Nepal
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Note 17 - Movement in funds (continued)
Note

Partner &
Country

At the start
of the year
£

Income
£

Expended
£

At the end
of the year
£

-

76,364

76,364

-

-

331,343

331,343

-

-

4,222

4,222

-

-

1,751,360

1,751,360

-

Unrestricted funds

474,191

178,338

199,912

452,617

Total funds 2020

474,191

1,929,698

1,951,272

452,617

Tackling the worst forms of child labour
- Challenging injustice
and promoting the
Nagorik,
rights of female
(h)
Bangladesh
garment workers in
Dhaka
- CLARISSA
(i)
Gram Bangla
Training and Consultancy
- South2South
child safeguarding
consultancy

(j)

Various

Total restricted funds
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Description of restricted funds – 2020
Building Capacity and Resilience
a)

Asia regional programmes: Regional capacity building and support, funded by various donors,
for our partners across the Asia region.

Promoting Learning
b)

c)

d)

e)
f)

Girls’ Education Challenge (GECT): Funded by DFID (now FCDO), this project is part of the Girls'
Education Challenge Transition Fund. The project is a follow on from the step change project,
supporting some of the most marginalised girls to enrol, stay, and thrive in secondary schools and
tertiary institutions. For a small number of girls, the project will support them to transition into
livelihood and employability.
Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) in Nepal: Funded by Jersey Overseas Aid (State of Jersey
Treasury - JOA), the project goal is to enable 7,400 vulnerable children, with a focus on 3,800 girls
and 200 children with disabilities, to stay or re-enrol in school due to improved WASH facilities in 20
earthquake and flood-affected schools in rural Nepal.
WASH improvements in Ethiopia: This project was funded by Guernsey Overseas Aid &
Development Commission (GOAC), facilitating the extension and improvement of WASH
facilities in schools.
Butterflies mental health project: Funded by Comic Relief, the project is delivered by our partner
Butterflies who has then engaged ChildHope UK to provide capacity building and oversight.
Covid Response in Sierra Leone: Working with our partner Future Focus Foundation, and funded
by Evan Cornish Foundation to respond to the immediate needs of young people affected by
the Covid pandemic.

Tackling Modern Slavery
g)

CLAMP: This project is a Community Led Action Against Modern-Slavery and Poverty. It is
implemented by our partner Shakti Samuha and funded by DFID (now FCDO).

Tackling the Worst Forms of Child Labour
h)

i)

Challenging injustice and promoting the rights of female garment workers in Dhaka: This project is
funded by TRAID to provide day care, primary education, and vocational training to children of
garment workers in Dhaka. It also supports parents and the community to more effectively protect
and care for their children.
A child-centred approach to tackling the drivers of child labour and modern slavery (CLARISSA): The
project is funded by DFID (now FCDO) through Institute for Development Studies, preparatory work
for the programme which is now CLARISSA.

Training and Consultancy
j)

South2South child safeguarding consultancy: Business development programme, initially funded by
Comic Relief, to kick-start ChildHope's consultancy programme as a sustainable income generating
fund.
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Note 17 - Movement in funds (continued)
2019

Note

Partner &
Country

At the start
of the year
£

Income
£

Expended
£

Various, Asia

-

4,097

4,097

-

CHADET,
Ethiopia

-

738

738

-

-

1,326,721

1,326,721

-

-

87,570

87,570

-

-

12,469

12,469

-

-

74,109

74,109

-

-

20,191

20,191

-

-

2,816

2,816

-

-

260,404

260,404

-

-

1,789,115

1,789,115

-

At the end of
the year
£

Restricted funds
Building capacity and resilience
- Asia regional
(a)
programmes
- Partner strategic
(b)
strengthening
Promoting Learning
- Girls Education
Challenge (GECT)

(c)

- Water, Sanitation and
Hygiene (WASH)

(d)

- Butterflies Mental
Health Project

(e)

CHADET,
Ethiopia
Voice of
Children,
Nepal
Butterflies,
India

Protecting the rights of street connected children
- Bridging Project,
Pendekezo
(f)
Nairobi
Letu, Kenya
- Your World Research
CHADET,
(g)
(ESRC)
Ethiopia
- Butterflies partner
Butterflies,
(h)
capacity development
India
Tackling Modern Slavery
- CLAMP

www.childhope.org.uk

(i)

Shakti
Samuha,
Nepal
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Note 17 - Movement in funds (continued)
2019- continued
Note

Partner &
Country

At the start
of the year
£

Income
£

Expended
£

-

36,344

36,344

-

-

4,464

4,464

-

-

12,745

12,745

-

-

14,414

14,414

-

-

10,000

10,000

-

Tackling the worst forms of child labour
- Challenging injustice
and promoting the
Nagorik,
rights of female
(j)
Bangladesh
garment workers in
Dhaka
- Ending the cycle of
children and families
SCoSL, Sierra
(k)
working on rubbish
Leone
dumps in Freetown
- Healthy futures for
child waste pickers in
(l)
Gram Bangla
Dhakha
- A child-centred
approach to tackling
the drivers of child
(m)
Gram Bangla
labour and modern
slavery

At the end of
the year
£

- Empowering teenage
mothers with skills
training for sustainable
livelihood in Kenema

(n)

Future
Focus, Sierra
Leone

- Vocational Education
for Adolescent
Waste-Pickers

(o)

Gram Bangla

-

1,386

1,386

-

(p)

Various

-

219,956

219,956

-

Total restricted funds

-

2,088,424

2,088,424

-

Unrestricted funds

-

246,837

242,223

4,614

Total funds 2019

-

2,335,261

2,330,647

4,614

Training and Consultancy
- South2South
child safeguarding
consultancy
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Description of restricted funds - 2019
Building Capacity and Resilience
a)
b)

Asia regional programmes: Regional capacity building and support, funded by various donors,
for our partners across the Asia region.
Partner Strategic Strengthening – CHADET: This is ongoing work with our partner CHADET, funded
by Comic Relief through a strategic grant, to support them through organisational development,
through a time of change and growth.

Promoting Learning
c)

d)

e)

Girls’ Education Challenge (GECT): Funded by DFID (now FCDO), this project is part of the Girls'
Education Challenge Transition Fund. The project is a follow on from the step change project,
supporting some of the most marginalised girls to enrol, stay and thrive in secondary schools and
tertiary institutions. For a small number of girls, the project will support them to transition into
livelihood and employability.
Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) in Nepal: Funded by Jersey Overseas Aid (State of Jersey
Treasury - JOA), the project goal is to enable 7,400 vulnerable children, with a focus on 3,800
girls and 200 children with disabilities, to stay or re-enrol in school due to improved WASH
facilities in 20 earthquake and flood-affected schools in rural Nepal.
Butterflies mental health project: Funded by Comic Relief, the project is delivered by our partner
Butterflies who has then engaged ChildHope UK to provide capacity building and oversight.

Protecting the Rights of Street Connected Children
f)

g)
h)

Bridging Project: Funded by Comic Relief, our partner Pendekezo Letu (PKL) offer rehabilitation
support to girls living and working on the dumpsites and streets of Nairobi. The project also
supports their siblings and carers to provide a safe home environment to which they can return
and continue their education.
Your World Research (ESRC): This is a research partnership with the University of Brighton /
ESRC, looking at young people's coping mechanisms.
Butterflies partner capacity development: Funded by Comic Relief through a corporate grant
with BA with our partner Butterflies to enable 16,000 children to learn life and financial
management skills and 4,720 children to improve their health.

Tackling Modern Slavery
i)

CLAMP: This project is a Community Led Action against Modern-slavery and Poverty. It is
implemented by our partner Shakti Samuha and funded by DFID (now FCDO).

Tackling the Worst Forms of Child Labour
j)

Challenging injustice and promoting the rights of female garment workers in Dhaka: This project is
funded by TRAID, for our partner Nagorik to provide day care, primary education, and vocational
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k)

l)

m)

n)

o)

training to children in Dhaka. It also supports parents and the community to more effectively protect
and care for their children.
Ending the cycle of children and families working on rubbish dumps in Freetown: The project is
funded by Comic Relief, to promote education opportunities and improved livelihoods for children
and young people and their families.
Healthy futures for child waste pickers in Dhaka: Funded by BLF (now National Lottery) and the
Charity Commission - this project is to support a health and livelihood programme for child and
adolescent waster pickers in Dhaka.
A child-centred approach to tackling the drivers of child labour and modern slavery (CLARISSA):
The project is funded by FCDO (formerly DFID) through Institute for Development Studies,
preparatory work for the programme which is now CLARISSA.
Empowering teenage mothers with skills training for sustainable livelihood in Kenema: The project
with our partner Future Focus Foundation, is funded by different donors, to empower teenage
mothers with skills training for sustainable livelihood in Kenema.
Vocational Education for Adolescent Waste-Pickers: Funded by BLF and the Charity Commission this project is to support a health and livelihood programme for child and adolescent waster pickers
in Dhaka.

Training and Consultancy
p)

South2South child safeguarding consultancy: Business development programme, funded by Comic
Relief for one year, to kick-start ChildHope's consultancy programme as a sustainable income
generating fund.
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